IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-1355
District Court of Appeal,
Third District Case No. 3D00-591

RAUL MORALES

Petitioner,

VS.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

PETITIONER'S CORRECTED INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BENNETT H. BRUMMER

Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit Of Florida 1320 N.W. 14th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-1963

DOROTHY F. EASLEY SPECIAL ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER (Fla. Bar No. 0015891) Federal & State Appeals Post Office Box 144389 Coral Gables, Florida 33134 Telephone:(305) 444-1599 Counsel for Petitioner

A. Introduction

This petition concerns Raul Morales' conviction for boating under the influence/manslaughter, § 327.351(2), Fla. Stat. (1998) (Count I).² R. 3-4, 93-94. Mr. Morales was sentenced on Count I to 207 months. R. 109-11, 118-20.

B. Pre-Trial Motions and Rulings Pertinent to this Petition

1. Pertinent Orders on Motions in Limine

The State moved in limine to "deny any motion to suppress evidence in this case which is not filed prior to trial (e.g., motions to suppress breath and/or blood test results, statements made by the defendant, etc.)", citing *C.E. v. State*, 555 So. 2d 898 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990), and *Wingert v. State*, 353 So. 2d 643 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977). R. 45-53, 55, 209. The defense stated it was not filing a motion to suppress. T. 220-21.

The court granted the State's motion in limine to exclude, as the defense requested, "the defendant's breath alcohol test results", "the fact that a breath alcohol

R. __ refers to the record on appeal. T. __ refers to the trial and sentencing hearing transcript. I.B. refers to the Initial Brief, A.B. refers to the Answer Brief and R.B. refers to the Reply Brief filed with the Third District Court of Appeal, respectively. "Mtn. for Corr." refers to Mr. Morale's Motion for Correction or Rehearing filed with the Third District Court of Appeal. The parties will be referred to as they were below.

The State does not dispute Mr. Morales' statement of the case and facts set forth in his Initial Brief filed with the Third District Court of Appeal and virtually identical herein, or in Mr. Morales' Petition for Discretionary Review filed with this Court. *See* I.B. and A.B., filed with the Third District Court of Appeal.

The Third District Court of Appeal vacated Mr. Morales' conviction for vessel homicide, § 782.072(2), Fla. Stat. (1998) (Count II).

test was administered" and that "Officer Kaloostian did not charge the defendant with Failure to Render Aid under Florida Statute 327.30(5)." R. 50, 55, T. 3-4, 209, 221-25. The court granted in part and denied in part the State's motion in limine to exclude Defendant's statements denying culpability, allowing his statements to Coast Guard Officers Ludwig and Lamenza. T. 209-18. The defense agreed to the introduction of Mr. Morales' statement, as translated and in Spanish. T. 225-26.

C. The Trial

1. Opening Statement

The State opened that, on September 27, 1998, the victim, Hubert Jaurequi, was on a jet ski in a manatee zone along McAurthur Causeway when Mr. Morales, on his third pass along that channel, plowed into Mr. Jaurequi with his boat designed like a race car with so much force that it lacerated Mr. Jaurequi's back, literally into his vital organs. T. 237-40. The evidence would show that Mr. Morales did not turn around until jet skiers retrieved him and forced him to return. T. 240-41. The evidence would also show that the Coast Guard had reasonable cause to believe Mr. Morales was under the influence of alcohol, and they conducted field sobriety tests and later, upon flunking some of those tests, subjected Mr. Morales to a blood draw at a nearby hospital. R. 240-44. After Mirandizing Mr. Morales, Mr. Morales would freely give his story of what happened, admit he hit the victim, and blood tests would later reveal a .07 blood alcohol reading, the equivalent of three beers. T. 243-45.

The defense theory was this was "the prosecution's attempt to criminalize what

is clearly an accident in this matter." T. 246-47. There would be no evidence that Mr. Morales intentionally acted "to hurt or kill anybody that day." T. 246-47. The alcohol reading was below the legal limit. T. 247. And the Defendants' statement that he consumed three beers just before the accident would be consistent with the physical evidence here that he was not impaired at the time of the accident, as he passed almost all sobriety tests clean, free "a hundred percent". T. 247-49, 251-54. Mr. Morales did not dispute that he drove his boat and struck and killed the victim, and the evidence would show he returned upon learning he hit someone. T. 250-53.

2. The Testimony

Ivana Posada testified she arrived at the beach near MacAurther Causeway on September, 1998, around 1:00 p.m. when she noticed two men in a boat on September, 1998, with a large engine, speeding west to east and then turning south into the manatee zone toward two jet skiers roughly ten feet apart. T. 255-61, 266-67. Ms. Posada recalled the sign by the shore was a no wake, manatee zone. T. 264-65.

On the first pass, Mr. Morales' boat did not come close to the jet skiers. T. 274. On the second pass, the boat came toward the jet skiers, stationary and "idle sitting in the water." T. 261, 275-76, 285. None of the jet skiers tried to cut Mr. Morales' boat off or cross its path. T. 284-85. She "imagined [the boat] was going to make it between the two [jet skiers], but. . .they didn't have much distance between them. And the boat went through it and struck the jet ski most to the south", closer to the beach. T. 261-62. Ms. Posada observed the boat's hull hit the jet skier with a

life jacket on the side, the jet skier was thrown off the jet ski, he floated in a pool of blood and a nearby man jumped into the water to get him. T. 262-63, 267, 277.

Ms. Posada did not "think the[boater, Mr. Morales,] realized it had been such damage". T. 263-64. So Mr. Morales continued west and then stopped in front of some buildings when jet skiers reached his boat. T. 263-64. When Mr. Morales returned, "it appeared to [Ms. Posada] that [he] didn't realize what happened". T. 279, 285. Ms. Posada, some twenty feet away, made "the observation that [Mr. Morales] look[ed] distorted as if he was in shock about what happened and hadn't realized the extent of what happened". T. 281-82.

There were no police or marine patrol authorities when Mr. Morales returned to the scene. T. 280-81. The victim was brought to shore, had a gash in his back, eyes open, and then went unconscious and no longer moved. T. 267-68. Ms. Posada had to call "911" twice, a first time to help the victim and a second time because the individuals with the victim were raging after Mr. Morales. T. 268-69, 279. When the Coast Guard arrived later, Mr. Morales got on their boat. T. 281.

Leudelis Alvarez's testimony was similar to Ms. Posada's. T. 255-82. The victim, Hubert Jaurequi, was her husband's best friend. T. 285-87. They had all gone with friends to the marina off MacAurther Causeway to ride jet skis, arriving around 1:30 p.m. T. 285-87. Along the beach, there was a "slow, manatee zone", where people swam and jet skiers were to pass slowly. T. 289-91. Mr. Morales' fast speed was normal because he was farther away. T. 294. Ms. Alvarez estimated Mr. Morales

to be traveling 50 mph down the manatee zone. T. 294-97, 306. She admitted having no training in estimating watercraft speeds, and no real way to differentiate between 30 mph and 50 mph in the water. T. 307-08.

Ms. Alvarez admitted giving a written statement to the Coast Guard in which she told the investigator that, when the driver of the boat passed the manatee sign, he did not appear to see the victim. T. 313. She did not see the boat slow down or swerve to avoid hitting the victim and she did not see the victim swerve in front of the boat. T. 298-99. She observed the boat leave the manatee zone for the deeper part of the channel and then two jet skis go after the boat to return it to the scene. T. 299-300, 318. The boat returned voluntarily. T. 315.

Ms. Alvarez went to the front of the marina to guide emergency rescue, she saw the boat on the shore when she returned, and she observed Mr. Morales standing there numb, putting salt water in his mouth. T. 300-02, 316. Mr. Morales was swaying and he had difficulty ascending the stairs when the Coast Guard arrived. T. 302-03. The victim's friends attacked Mr. Morales, but she did not personally see it. T. 303-04, 316.

Similar to Ms. Alvarez, T. 285-316, Osmel Fernandez, Ms. Alvarez's husband, testified that the victim, whom he had known for eighteen years, was like a brother to him. T. 319-20. Mr. Fernandez admitted testifying in his deposition that they arrived around 12:00 noon and the accident happened just one-half hour later. T. 347. He was surprised to know that the accident happened after 4 p.m. that day. T. 347.

Mr. Fernandez further testified seeing a racing boat traveling approximately 50 mph inside the manatee zone, strike the victim, who was wearing a safety vest, the victim fell back into the water, the seat flew into the air, and Mr. Fernandez jumped into the water to help the victim, now hurt very badly. T. 320-21, 335-37. He admitted having no training in estimating car or boat speeds. T. 341. He admitted using the jet skis in those areas before to jump wakes. T. 344. Like Ms. Alvarez, he also testified without objection that it appeared Mr. Morales "didn't see him or something." T. 323-25. The boat returned to the beach some ten minutes later. T. 328. Mr. Morales "asked what happened", as he had no idea how badly the victim was hurt, and his voice "wasn't clear", as if he was tired. T. 333-34, 351-52. Mr. Fernandez described Mr. Morales' eyes as red and shiny and his smell of alcohol. T. 329-31.

Mr. Fernandez was "really angry" and approached Mr. Morales with one thing on his mind – he was "going to hit him" and make him pay for what he did to his friend. T. 330, 332, 349. He punched Mr. Morales "in his face"; then testified he did not hit him in the face, but in his neck and back. T. 330, 332, 351. He also hit Mr. Morales in the ribs. T. 351. Mr. Morales could not stand and was falling. T. 331. Mr. Fernandez did not know if Mr. Morales' difficulty in standing was the result of his hitting him in the ribs, and might be a "possibility". T. 351. Mr. Fernandez was not going to let Mr. Morales near the victim. T. 352. Three other men with Mr. Fernandez attacked Mr. Morales as well, preventing anyone from helping the victim now lying on the beach. T. 352.

Leonardo Guzman's testimony was similar to Ms. Posada's, Ms. Alvarez's and Mr. Fernandez's. T. 631-40, 647. Mr. Guzman testified "it seemed like [the driver of the boat, Mr. Morales] didn't know" and kept going. T. 646, 651. He estimated the boat was traveling between 40 and 50 mph. T. 647. The jet ski attempted to move out of the way, the boat caught the victim, there was a loud bang, and then the victim, wearing a life vest, fell into the water. T. 642-43. He saw no one veer into the boat or cut it off. T. 642-43. Mr. Guzman could not focus on Mr. Morales' faculties to determine whether he was impaired because, almost from the time Mr. Morales arrived, he was pulled out of the boat and beaten. T. 655-56. Almost immediately from the time Mr. Morales returned in his boat, Mr. Guzman saw at least two men pull him from the boat and start to beat him. T. 653-54.

U.S. Coast Guard Officer Rodimus Lamenza testified that on September 27, 1998, he and U.S. Coast Guard Officer Ludwig arrived at the scene, in response to an emergency call of a boat accident. T. 361-63. Another, smaller Coast Guard boat was already at the scene. T. 364. Raul Morales was one of the two individuals who boarded the Officers' boat. T. 365. Some fifteen minutes later, they arrived at the station dock. T. 367. Mr. Morales had trouble stepping from the boat onto the pier. T. 367-68. Officer Lamenza did not smell alcohol on Mr. Morales. T. 382-83. He was roughly one foot from Mr. Morales. T. 382-83.

Once inside the Coast Guard station, Officer Lamenza served as translator for Officer Ludwig and then for Florida Marine Patrol Officer Curt Kaloostian's interview

hours later. T. 368-76. Mr. Morales was able to talk to Officer Lamenza in a direct manner, he was cooperative, he answered the questions presented to him and he was very serious. T. 391-93. Officer Lamenza translated the field sobriety test explanations into Spanish. T. 369-70, 390-91. At the time the field sobriety tests were being administered, Officer Lamenza did not know the right versus wrong way to conduct them. T. 383. He admitted testifying in his deposition that he had no opinion that day on whether or not Mr. Morales passed or failed his tests, he had no training at that time, and Officer Lamenza was not concentrating on how Mr. Morales was performing his tests, but on Officer Lamenza's translations to Mr. Morales. T. 385-88. Officer Lamenza took no notes to refer to later regarding Mr. Morales' performance on the sobriety tests. T. 389, 399-400, 403.

After reading Mr. Morales his Miranda rights at 9:58 p.m., Officer Kaloostian interviewed Mr. Morales and then Mr. Morales wrote out his own statement, which Officer Lamenza translated and witnessed. T. 373-76, 398. Officer Ludwig confirmed that Mr. Morales only had a sixth grade education. T. 441-42. Officer Lamenza noticed Mr. Morales' very poor grammar and the handwriting made his statement very difficult to understand, not in the manner of an educated man, so the Officer reviewed it with Mr. Morales word for word. T. 377-78, 394-97.

Officer Ludwig testified that on September 27, 1998, he recieved a call at 4:14 p.m. of a boating fatality just north of MacAurther Causeway, arriving at the scene around 4:25 p.m. T. 404-08, 432. He observed a mob, another smaller Coast Guard

boat and emergency medical technicians already at the scene. T. 408-09, 432. Officer Ludwig described the sixteen-foot boat, white with a 200 horsepower outboard engine, T. 409-11, 414, overpowered by federal regulation standards. T. 415, 416.

Officer Ludwig testified Mr. Morales, when he was brought to him around 4:33 p.m., had the smell of alcohol and a sleepy attitude when he got into the boat. T. 412-13, 433, 444. He asked Mr. Morales, while on board the vessel, to tell him what happened, and Mr. Morales complied. T. 435. Officer Ludwig checked on his DUI test report that Mr. Morales' face was flushed and his eyes were bloodshot, but agreed the photograph reflected someone who had been out in the sun all day and that he could not say his bloodshot eyes were not a product of being on salt water all day. T. 437-38, 445-46, 479.

After boarding and inspecting the boat, Officer Ludwig took Mr. Morales and his passenger to the Coast Guard station to conduct field sobriety tests. T. 416-17. They arrived at the station around 5 p.m. T. 417. Mr. Morales' English was very slight, so Officer Lamenza translated the field sobriety tests. T. 418. Officer Ludwig performed a series of field sobriety tests, not specifically recalling Mr. Morales' performance on them. T. 419-27. After referring to his test report, he recalled Mr. Morales did not complete these tasks without error. T. 419-27. He did not know how many errors Mr. Morales made on his DUI tests; he took no notes on what Mr. Morales specifically could not do. T. 455-69.

Mr. Morales did not lose his balance or use his arms for balance or stumble or

fall. T. 465-71. He cooperated in every way, did not cause any problems, was not insulting, and never fell asleep on the boat or at the station. T. 434-35, 447-49. He was able to follow all directions, but required translations. T. 449, 452-54. Officer Ludwig admitted that the fact that Mr. Morales could communicate intelligently in English, not his primary language, and that Officer Ludwig was able to largely understand Mr. Morales' details of the accident, were factors that Mr. Morales was in control of his normal faculties. T. 472-74. Officer Ludwig marked on the test report that Mr. Morales' speech was confused, not slurred or mumbled, because he did not understand everything Mr. Morales was telling him and agreed that could have been Mr. Morales' inability to speak much English and Officer Ludwig's inability to speak any Spanish. T. 474-76. Officer Ludwig also agreed this did not necessarily indicate Mr. Morales was impaired. T. 476.

Officer Ludwig testified Mr. Morales told him he was driving his vessel, traveling east, and saw a boat full of girls next to him, prompting him to move closer toward land when suddenly a jet ski was in front of him and he struck the jet ski. T. 481. When he returned to the beach to the victim, a group jumped him and started to beat him. T. 481. The events of the day could have contributed to Mr. Morales' mistakes, not that Mr. Morales was under the influence. T. 477. Officer Ludwig saw a cut above Mr. Morales' eye and a cut on his lip. T. 481.

Based on Mr. Morales' conduct on these tests, his eyes, and his alcohol odor, Officer Ludwig thought Mr. Morales was under the influence and impaired by alcohol.

T. 427, 431, 471, 483-84. So he turned Mr. Morales over to Florida Marine Patrol Officer Curt Kaloostian. T. 429.

Officer Kaloostian testified he was lead investigator of the boating fatality on September 27, 1998 at approximately 4:15 p.m. T. 531-33. When Officer Kaloostian arrived at the scene at roughly 4:34 p.m., the victim had already been transported to the hospital by fire rescue and Mr. Morales had already been taken aboard the Coast Guard vessel. T. 536. Before going to the Coast Guard station, Officer Kaloostian photographed the scene, noted damage on the vessels and located and interviewed witnesses, there for roughly one hour. T. 537-38.

Officer Kaloostian identified three witnesses – Leudelis Alvarez, Iovana Posada and Alfonso Paros. All of these individuals gave statements. T. 581-82. He inspected the boat and the jet ski and took some fibers from the boat to match it to some of the items on the jet ski. T. 585. The information Mr. Morales gave him did not contradict the physical evidence. T. 591. He later testified the physical evidence did not corroborate Mr. Morales' version of the story or any story. T. 626. The physical damage told Officer Kaloostian where the boat and the jet ski were in relation to each other, but did not tell how the collision occurred. T. 590-91.

Officer Kaloostian arrived at the Coast Guard station at 5:36 p.m., and met Mr. Morales there at 6:22 p.m., at which time he saw no signs of injury, but smelled the odor of alcohol on him; field sobriety tests had already been performed. T. 538-39, 591-92. Officer Kaloostian decided to take Mr. Morales to the South Shore Hospital

for a blood draw, performed by Alexander Roman, an emergency medical technician of the Hospital. T. 540-41.

Officer Kaloostian generally described the blood draw kits: they come sealed with red tape, and contain blood preservative. T. 543-44. He observed the blood draw of Mr. Morales and saw the collected blood go into a blood draw kit's glass tubes, at 6:50 p.m. T. 545-47.

South Shore Hospital emergency room nurse, Alexander Roman, testified that on September 27, 1998, he drew the blood of someone whom Officer Kaloostian brought in to the emergency room. T. 484-87, 488. He could not be certain Mr. Morales was that person. T. 487. Officer Kaloostian brought his own blood draw kit. T. 488-89. Mr. Roman identified his handwriting on the vials of the blood he collected for Officer Kaloostian that day. T. 489-91. He testified the person brought in by Officer Kaloostian smelled of alcohol. T. 490-91.

Richard McClure, toxicologist with Miami-Dade County, testified he used a gas chromatograph and analyzed the blood in two vials, in a blood collection kit, with assigned case number 98-0487, submitted by Florida Marine Patrol Officer Curt Kaloostian. T. 506-11. The defense objected and sought to exclude the blood sample, citing Florida Administrative Code Section 11D 8.012, because there was no testimony by the sample collector that the blood was placed in a tube actually containing anti-coagulant substance, which the court overruled. T. 512-13.

Mr. McClure testified that these gray stopper vials used for these blood kits

contain anticoagulants that keep the blood from clotting or clumping together, and this blood was in a liquid state. T. 513-15. He further testified that, if the blood did not contain anticoagulants, it would not be in a liquid state. T. 514. The court granted the defense request for voir dire, and the defense confirmed that Mr. McClure performed no test to confirm the substance he analyzed was blood. T. 515. The defense further confirmed that Mr. McClure thought it was blood because it had the same consistency. T. 515. Mr. McClure was not at the collection point of the evidence and admitted that, other than the fact that the samples are not clotted, he had no idea whether these tubes contained anticoagulants. T. 516.

Mr. McClure reported the blood alcohol test readings on October 9, 1998 to be: .0749, .0723, .0753 and .0726, with a final report of a blood alcohol level of .07. T. 519-20, 522. None of the samples had .08 or higher alcohol levels. T. 523-24. December 3, 1998 tests also performed on these samples showed no presence of controlled substances. T. 520-22.

After the blood draw, Officer Kaloostian returned to the Coast Guard station, spoke to the passenger on Mr. Morales' boat, as Officer Lamenza translated, for roughly one hour, and then asked Mr. Morales if he would be willing to make a statement. T. 547-49. At 9:58 p.m., Officer Lamenza translated the Miranda Rights Waiver Form for Mr. Morales, Mr. Morales voluntarily signed that Form and their interview began. T. 549-51, 592-94. Mr. Morales stated to Officer Kaloostian that he had gotten to the Venetian Causeway bridge, he turned east towards Japanese

Gardens, part of Watson Island, traveling in his boat at roughly 45 to 50 mph during the first two passes and 48 to 49 mph on the third pass, he saw two jet skiers on his right side, two on his left, and one of the two on his left, the male operator, cut in front of the female operator on the jet ski and in front of the boat, which Mr. Morales' boat struck. T. 552-54. Mr. Morales estimated the speed of the jetskier cutting in front of him to be 36 mph while Mr. Morales' boat was traveling roughly 48 mph. T. 553-54. He acknowledged he made a mistake traveling in the manatee zone at that speed, he knew the sign was there, and he had a six-pack of beer on the boat, three of which he had just consumed. T. 554. At 10:17 p.m., Officer Kaloostian gave Mr. Morales an opportunity to make a written statement in his own words, which was subsequently translated into English. T. 554-55, 595-97. The question of how long Mr. Morales saw the jet ski before he hit it was not addressed. T. 597-98. Mr. Morales' written statement was read to the jury without objection. T. 556-57. The State and the defense stipulated the document was an accurate translation. T. 557-58.

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