IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-1355

RAUL MORALES,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH

Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

MICHAEL J. NEIMAND

Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief Florida Bar No. 0239437

FRANK J. INGRASSIA

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0116180 Office of The Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 110 S.E. 6th Street - 9th Floor Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33301 (954) 712-4600 Fax 712-4658

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There is no reversible error flowing from the jury instruction on the statutory presumption of impairment based upon the blood tests conducted in this case. The purported error is unpreserved for review on appeal because there was no attack upon the subject administrative Rule that this Court addressed in State v. Miles, 775 So.2d 950 (Fla. 2000). This being the case, this Court improperly granted jurisdiction to hear this appeal and review should be denied on this basis alone. Additionally, the only challenge to the administrative Rule made in the Circuit Court below was raised with respect to

the purported failure to utilize anticoagulants in the vials containing the blood. The record evidence presented from both the toxicologist (McClure) and Officer Kaloostian, established the necessary predicate supporting the fact that anticoagulants were contained in the vials. Moreover, the record evidence establishes that the blood alcohol level of Defendant was .072, less than the statutorily presumptive level of .08, the level upon which the jury could have made a finding of impairment based solely on the blood test results. Because the State presented compelling and other overwhelming proof of Defendant's impairment separate and apart from the blood alcohol test level of .072, any conceivable error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Finally, there is no error in the Circuit Court's jury instruction about reading back testimony. The Circuit Court, while never expressly presented with a direct request for a read back by the jury, did issue preliminary and closing instructions that the jury could have testimony read back if they desired it, but that the process might be difficult and time consuming. The Circuit Court never instructed the jury that they could not have testimony read back.

ARGUMENT

I. THERE IS NO REVERSIBLE ERROR IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON THE STATUTORY PRESUMPTION OF IMPAIRMENT BASED ON THE BLOOD TESTS CONDUCTED HEREIN.

Defendant contends that the Circuit Court erred in instructing the jury on the statutory presumption of impairment based upon alcohol test results under Rule 11D-8.012. The State submits that this issue is both unpreserved and without merit. In the alternative, any error is clearly harmless.

The standard of review on appeal for matters pertaining to jury instructions is that of abuse of discretion. <u>James v.</u> <u>State</u>, 695 So.2d 1229 (Fla. 1997). The basis of Defendant's argument here is that the Circuit Court erred in instructing the jury on the statutory presumption of impairment because the test results were obtained in purported contravention of Florida Administrative Code Rule 11D-8.012.

It should be noted that the State initially submits that this issue is unpreserved for review on appeal. Unlike the defendant in <u>State v. Miles</u>, 775 So.2d 950 (Fla. 2000), Defendant here never challenged the adequacy of Rule 11D-8.012. Rather, Defendant merely argued that the State did not adequately establish a predicate to support the admissibility of

the blood alcohol test results because anticoagulants were not purportedly utilized in the blood vials. In fact, the Third District Court of Appeal made this same point in footnote 1 of its Opinion. Morales v. State, supra, n.1. This was the only objection registered in the Circuit Court below. (T512-514).It is significant to note that no suppression motion was ever filed to challenge the scientific reliability of the subject Rule now argued as such, in direct contrast to the defendant in Because Defendant failed to preserve the issue for Miles. review, there is no direct and express conflict with Miles appearing on the four corners of the Opinion of the District Court of Appeal. As such, there is no jurisdiction to hear the appeal based upon express and direct conflict jurisdiction. See, Reaves v. State, 485 So.2d 829,830 (Fla. 1986). As such, the Court herein should decline to review the matter and merely note that review was improvidently granted.

There is no merit to the contention that the test results were improperly admitted on the basis that there was an insufficient predicate to establish that anticoagulants were properly administered. See <u>infra</u>, Point II. This being the case, there was simply no error in the admission of the blood alcohol evidence here.

Finally, there can hardly be any real contention that even

if the evidence were improperly admitted under Rule 11D-8.012, that the error is anything but harmless under Goodwin v. State, 751 So.2d 537 (Fla. 1999). First, of course, the statutory presumptions under the implied consent law for boating vessels flows from Section 327.354, Fla. Stat.(1997). Moreover, when the jury was instructed, again without objection from Defendant (T839), the jury was instructed that if they found that defendant had a blood alcohol level in excess of .05 but less than .08 they could consider that evidence in conjunction with other competent evidence to determine the issue of impairment. (T842). In light of the fact that the evidence of Defendant's blood alcohol level was at .072, the jury had to make the impairment determination on the basis of other competent evidence in addition to that test result.

For example, there was clearly record support for the admissibility of the evidence under a common law impairment theory outlined in <u>Robertson v. State</u>, 604 So.2d 783,789 (Fla.

²All of the parties to the appeal (including the predecessor attorney for the State in the District Court of Appeal)argued that the implied consent presumptions emanated from Section 316.1934(2), Fla. Stat.(1997). That section, however, deals with motor vehicles. Section 327.354 referenced above is applicable to boating vessels, but the analysis still calls for compliance with FDLE methods and the analytic framework is the same as 316.1934.

³The error is thus unpreserved for review under this theory as well. <u>Brooks v. State</u>, 762 So.2d 879 (Fla. 2000).

1992) inasmuch as the State established that (1) the test was reliable; (2) the test was performed by a qualified expert; and (3) expert testimony was presented to establish the meaning of the results. McClure was a stipulated toxicology expert so he was certainly qualified to perform the blood test. The test was taken with gas chromatography and no objection was registered to challenge such equipment or that of its reliability by way of a Frye hearing or any other objection for that matter. McClure and Walls opined about the meaning of the test results. True, the State would not be entitled to a presumption under a impairment admissibility theory outlined law State v. Miles, supra. However, there was no real Robertson. presumption created from a material harmless error analysis theory because the blood test results were less than .08. This means, of course, that the jury had to make a finding of impairment on the basis of proof in addition to the blood test results. In other words, this Court can readily conclude that common law proof of impairment was the record basis for the assessment of guilt by the jury.

This Court can be convinced of the harmless error analysis set forth by the State on the basis on the other proof supporting impairment in the record and pointing to guilt. First, four witnesses saw the boat strike the victim while the

boat was traveling fast and the victim was idle in the water. These witnesses were Posada (T262-264), Leudelis Alvarez (T296-297), Osmel Fernandez (T322-323), and Leonardo de Guzman (T647). George Borghi, the stipulated fiber expert opined that fibers from the victim's life vest were embedded in both Phillips head screws removed from Defendant's boat. (T498,504-505). Officer Ludwig testified that Defendant failed five field sobriety tests. (T426-427). Ludwig opined that Defendant was impaired by alcohol based upon the field sobriety tests and bloodshot eyes, strong odor of alcohol and a flushed face. (T483-484). Other witnesses could smell alcohol odor on Defendant's breath including Officer Kaloostian (T539), Technician Roman, who conducted the blood draw two and one-half hours later (T490-491), and Osmel Fernandez (T330-331). In fact, Fernandez noted that Defendant's eyes were red and that he kept putting salt water in his mouth at the scene of the accident. (T330-331). On top of all of this, Defendant provided a voluntary statement to the authorities where he admitted that he was traveling at 49 miles per hour in a no speed zone and that he made a mistake. (T556-557).

In light of all of these facts to support common law impairment, coupled with the point that the blood alcohol test revealed a limit below .08 (and that would have independently

supported a jury finding of impairment without resort to other evidence under the complained of instruction) any error is clearly harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

II. THERE WAS NO ABUSE OF DISCRETION IN THE RULING OF THE CIRCUIT COURT PERMITTING THE BLOOD ALCOHOL TESTS TO BE ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE BASED UPON THE TESTIMONY PRESENTED ABOUT THE ANTICOAGULANTS.

Defendant also contends

that the Circuit Court erred because there was not a factual predicate to support the admissibility of the evidence under Florida Administrative Code Rule 11D-8.012 because there was no proof that the samples were preserved properly with adequate anticoagulants. This argument, while preserved below, is without merit, or alternatively, is harmless.

The standard of review on appeal for the admissibility of evidence is that of abuse of discretion. Ray v. State, 755 So.2d 604,610 (Fla. 2000). No such abuse can be demonstrated

here.

McClure testified that the blood vials that he received were contained in gray stopper vials in a sealed blood kit. (T511). McClure opined that the blood was in liquid form and clearly contained anticoagulants because otherwise the blood would have clumped together or clotted. (T514). McClure also noted that he knew that the vials contained anticoagulants because the manufacturer places it in the gray stopper, and the blood remained in liquid form and did not clot. (T514-516). Officer Kaloostian testified, without objection, that when he opened up the sealed box, the empty vials contained a blood preservative. (T543-544). These facts contain ample record support to establish that the samples contained both anticoaqulants and proper preservatives. There was, therefore, no abuse of discretion in admitting this evidence based upon this one specifically preserved argument.

In the alternative, should the Court conclude that there was not sufficient compliance with Rule 11D-8.012 based upon the lack of anticoagulants or preservatives in the blood samples, the error is harmless based upon the State's common law proof of impairment for the reasons set forth in Point I, supra.

III. THERE IS NO REVERSIBLE ERROR IN THE JURY

INSTRUCTIONS PROVIDED BY THE CIRCUIT COURT PERTAINING TO THE READ BACK OF TESTIMONY.

Defendant further contends that the Circuit Court erred when it instructed the jury about read back of testimony. The State submits that this issue is without merit.

The facts relevant to this issue are as follows. At the beginning of jury selection, the Circuit Court instructed the jury that:

"Now, I want to remind you that although [the reporter] makes a record of these proceedings, she does not prepare a transcript of the testimony as it is happening during the trial. So if you have a question about the testimony of a particular witness during your deliberation, you can't we can't just give you a transcript of that testimony. If it is absolutely necessary to help you reach a verdict, then we can read to you the notes that she has of that testimony but that is a difficult and time consuming process which is why we ask you to pay close attention to the testimony as it's coming in." (T8-9).

No objection was registered when the instruction was given. Later, at the jury charge conference, Defendant requested that the court instruct the jury that it is within their province to request that testimony be read back. (T766). No direct comment

followed from the Circuit Court, but Defendant's counsel did argue on summation that the jury could "have an opportunity to request any and all testimony [be] read back." (T803). The record also reveals that the Circuit Court instructed the jury, in part, immediately before deliberation began, as follows on December 2, 1999:

"Let me remind those of you who took notes those notes are for your own use. Although you can use them, you can't show them or try and influence the other jurors. And if you did not take notes, I want to remind you that your recollection is just as valuable as a juror who did take notes. And again, as I told you earlier, if you need testimony reread, we can do that. Although it is a difficult and time consuming process. But I didn't want you to think from what I said earlier it cannot be done. If you want us to do that, we will. But I will ask you to start your deliberations at this time" (R124).

The standard of review on appeal as to whether to give or withhold a jury instruction is that of abuse of discretion.

James v. State, 695 So.2d 1229,1236 (Fla. 1997). No such abuse can be demonstrated here.

Defendant cites to a host of authority underlying Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.410. That Rule does not really apply here. The jury never asked for a read back. Rather, after the Circuit Court

initially instructed the jury, without objection, about read back, while being permitted, was time consuming, defense counsel obviously thought about it and requested an instruction from the Circuit Court to clarify the point just to make sure that the jury would know that they could have testimony read back. Defendant closed by pointing out that the jury could have testimony read back. The instruction above, clearly provided from the record immediately before the jury retired to deliberate, sets forth that the jury could have testimony read back if requested. The Circuit Court also made it clear that he did not want the jury to think that from what he had instructed earlier, that it could not be done. As such, nothing was set forth to indicate that the jury would not be permitted to have read backs. Rather, exactly the opposite is clear. The jury was properly instructed that they could have a read back if they desired it. Accordingly, there is no error on this point.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, based upon the foregoing argument and citations of authority, the State respectfully requests that this Court decline to exercise jurisdiction and conclude that review was improvidently granted, or alternatively, that the judgment and

sentence of the Third District Court of Appeal be affirmed.